
 

         
 

CITY OF BEAUFORT 
ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
POST OFFICE DRAWER 1167 

BEAUFORT, SOUTH CAROLINA 29901 
(843) 525-7011  

 
        

MINUTES 
 

CITY OF BEAUFORT 
ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

Monday, February 22, 2010, 5:30 p.m. 
BEAUFORT CITY HALL – 302 Carteret Street 

Beaufort, South Carolina 
 

STATEMENT OF MEDIA NOTIFICATION:  “In accordance with South Carolina Code of 
Laws, 1976, Section 30-4-80(d), as amended, all local media duly notified of the time, date, 
place, and agenda of this meeting.  
              
 
Members Present 
Alice Howard, Chairman 
Brad Hill 
Eric Powell 
Joan Sedlacek 
 
Members Absent 
James Lane, Vice-Chairman 
 
Staff Present 
Libby Anderson, City of Beaufort Planning Director 
Julie Bachety, Recorder 
 
I. Call to Order 
 

Alice Howard, Chairman, called the meeting to order at 5:30 P.M.  Ms. Howard 
introduced the board members, Brad Hill, Joan Sedlacek, and Eric Powell, and City of 
Beaufort staff, Libby Anderson, Planning Director, and Julie Bachety, Recorder. 

 
 



 
ZBOA Minutes 
February 22, 2010 
Page 2 
 
II. FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT COMPLAINCE 
 
 Public Notification of the Zoning Board of Appeals meeting has been published in 
 compliance with the Freedom of Information Act requirements and the City of Beaufort 
 Unified Development Ordinance (UDO). 
 
III. Review Minutes: 
 

A. Minutes of January 25, 2010 
 

Motion:  Mr. Hill made a motion, seconded by Mr. Powell, to approve the minutes as 
presented.  Ms. Sedlacek abstained since she was not present at the January 25, 2010 
meeting.  The motion carried with a vote of three to one. 
 

IV. Review of Full Projects: 
 
A. 711 Duke Street, identified as District 121, Tax Map 4, Parcel 427, Rear Yard 

Setback Variance. 
 
 Applicant:  Z Prather for James P. Kirby & Anthony J. Suarez (ZB10-05) 
 
 The applicant is requesting a rear yard setback variance in order to subdivide the lot. 
 
 Ms. Anderson presented her staff report.  Ms. Anderson said staff has received 

several public comments about the appropriateness of subdividing of the vacant lot.  
Ms. Anderson said the real issue before the Board is the setback between the primary 
structure and the cottage.  Ms. Anderson went over the Findings of Facts and advised 
the public that the board members must approve all six Findings of Facts in order to 
approve the variance.  Ms. Anderson said the applicant wants to subdivide the lot into 
three tax parcels.  The lots are zoned “Traditional Beaufort Residential District” Old 
Commons (TBR).  The primary structure will be located on Parcel A.  The accessory 
structure will be located on Parcel C.  Parcel B will be a vacant lot.  The proposed 
parcels all meet the minimum lot area and lot width requirements of the TBR district.  
As the minimum rear yard setback requirement for the TBR District is 15’, the 
subdivision cannot be approved without a rear yard setback variance for Parcel A.  If 
the primary structure faced Scott Street, a setback variance would not be needed; the 
lot could be split into two parcels (A and B) without a variance.  Ms. Anderson 
reminded the board members that as part of the subdivision process, the applicant 
must demonstrate that off-street parking is provided for each lot.  The applicant is 
aware of this requirement.  Ms. Anderson said letters were sent out to adjoining 
property owners on February 5, the public hearing notice appeared in the  



 
ZBOA Minutes 
February 22, 2010 
Page 3 

 
 February 7 edition of The Beaufort Gazette and the property was posted on February 

8.  She said staff has received one public comment.  Staff believes the Board can 
make all the findings necessary to approve a variance and so staff recommends 
approval. 

 
 Ms. Prather said the owners of the property purchased it about 18 years ago with the 

house and the cottage already existing.  She said she is just addressing lot A & C.  
She said the owners will fix up the cottage and not tear it down.  Ms. Sedlacek asked 
where parking would be.  Ms. Prather said there is on-street parking on Scott Street.  
Ms. Anderson said there needs to be on-site parking.  Ms. Prather said the owner is 
elderly and does not drive, but she said if the variance is approved they will create 
parking in the rear of lot C.  Ms. Anderson said a parking easement will be needed 
between A & C and B & C will be serviced by the alley in the back which is owned 
by the City.  Ms. Sedlacek asked if the cars will be stacked behind each other.  Ms. 
Anderson said stacking is allowed for residential. 

 
 Ms. Howard opened the floor for public comment.  Ms. Anderson stated that there 

were five public comments received.  Ms. Howard read each public comment that 
was submitted to staff. 

   
  Ms. Howard asked if there was any further public comment. 

 
Lester York residing at 809 Scott Street said he received a letter regarding the 
variance and stated he had no problem with the variance as long as they meet the six 
Findings. 

 
Lynn Jackson residing 801 Duke Street said she has a large backyard and feels it’s 
terrible for the other property not to have a backyard.  She said the prior owner use to 
scoot in between the proposed property and Mr. Cook’s property and parked in the 
middle and it seemed the only way to park.  She said it’s sad that the house would be 
taken over by someone else and it should remain the way it is.  Ms. Howard asked if 
the parcel that faces Duke Street is the parcel you don’t want to see changed.  Ms. 
Howard confirmed that the Board is here today for a variance between the house 
facing Scott and the house facing Duke.  Ms. Howard asked Ms. Jackson if her 
concern is related more to the division of the lots that face Duke Street.  Ms. Jackson 
said yes. 

 
Ms. Sedlacek asked if Ms. Prather had any comments on the negative comments that 
were read by Ms. Howard.  Ms. Prather said she does not, but she said regarding the  
 
 



 
ZBOA Minutes 
February 22, 2010 
Page 4 

 
alley, it is currently used to access all the properties on Carteret Street.  She doesn’t 
see how creating a more appealing architectural structure would decrease the value of 
711 Duke Street. 

 
There were no further comments.  Ms. Howard closed the public comment. 
 
Ms. Howard asked the board members for their comments.  Ms. Sedlacek said she is 
uncomfortable with the request since the Board came across the same thing with  
The Point and that was denied.  Mr. Hill said we need to stay focused and the 
variance is for the lot line between A & C and the public comments were mostly for 
the development of parcel B, the open area.  Mr. Hill said regardless if the variance is 
approved or not, the owner can subdivide B.  Mr. Powell and Ms. Howard agreed 
with Mr. Hill and said we can meet all the requirements. 
 
Ms. Howard went through the Findings and agreed along with staff’s 
recommendations. 

 
Motion:  Mr. Hill made a motion, seconded by Mr. Powell, to grant the variance as 
requested with the understanding that it meets all the six criteria and that the applicant will 
work with staff regarding parking issues.  The motion carried with a vote of four to zero with 
Ms. Sedlacek being opposed. 
 
B. 401 Port Republic Street, identified as District 120, Tax Map 4, Parcel 903A, 

  Rear Yard Setback Variance. 
 

Applicant:  Frederick & Frederick Architects, for Earl & Elizabeth McMillen 
(ZB10-06) 
 
The applicant is requesting rear yard setback and critical line setback variances in 
order to rebuild the dwelling within the current footprint. 

 
 Ms. Anderson presented her staff report.  Ms. Anderson said staff has received 

several public comments.  Ms. Anderson said the applicant desires to rebuild the 
dwelling within the current footprint.  She said a single-family dwelling facing Port 
Republic Street occupies the site.  She said the property is zoned “Traditional 
Beaufort Residential District” Old Commons (TBR) and the structure is not on the 
Beaufort County Historic Sites Survey 1997, but is located in the Flood Hazard Area.  
Since the repair costs exceed 50% of the value of the structure, the structure must be 
raised above the base flood elevation.  Ms. Anderson said the applicant’s engineer 
has determined that the building cannot be raised and has recommended that the 
structure be demolished.  Ms. Anderson said there are a few questions that need  



 
ZBOA Minutes 
February 22, 2010 
Page 5 

 
 to be answered by the  applicant such as is the insurance company requiring the 

building to be built back in the original footprint or is this the property owners’ desire 
or assumption; could the porch be narrowed from 11.8’ to 8’ to minimize the 
encroachment.  She said an 8’ porch is still serviceable, but at a minimum, it appears 
that the steps on the east side of the porch, which are located in the buffer, could be 
eliminated.  Ms. Anderson said letters were sent out to adjoining property owners on 
February 5, public hearing notice appeared in the February 7 edition of The Beaufort 
Gazette and the property was posted on February 8.  She said staff has received two 
public comments.  Staff believes the Board can make all the findings necessary to 
approve a variance and so staff recommends approval. 

 
Ms. Frederick explained what happened because of the fire while the owners were 
away.  Ms. Frederick passed out copies of the Engineer’s Report.  She addressed 
the porches and addressed the public comment letters.  She said the letter from the 
mortgage company is very important and the letter from Edward Dukes states the 
same thing.  Her suggestion is if we want to move it out of the critical area, is to 
move it to the west maybe 7 or 8 feet off of that property line and that would give 
us more room on the eastern line.  Ms. Frederick showed the board members a plan 
that would show this.  Mr. Hill asked Ms. Frederick since the Soils Report came in 
that is confirmed that the house must be demolished.  Ms. Frederick said yes.  Mr. 
Powell asked when the porch that is there now was added, did it need a variance.  
Ms. Anderson said no and we’re trying to recreate the history of the project.  Ms. 
Anderson asked about the steps.  Ms. Frederick said they are 26 feet from the 
retaining wall.  Ms. Sedlacek asked how important the steps to the owner are.  Ms. 
Frederick said the steps on the east side are most important because they will allow 
access to the dock. 

 
 Public Comment: 
 Ms. Anderson stated that there were 7 public comments received as of this date. 

Ms. Howard opened the floor for public comment.  Ms. Howard said she didn’t 
feel all of the letters needed to be read since the members have read them already; 
however, she did refer to the letter from Billy Keyserling and was a bit confused 
because it sounded like the current owners are not the owners.  Ms. Frederick said 
the letter is stating that when the current owners, Mr. & Mrs. McMillen, brought 
the house they were buying it with the criteria listed in Mr. Keyserling’s letter.   

 
 Ms. Howard asked if there was any further public comment.  There were no further 

comments.  Ms. Howard closed the public comment. 
 
Motion:  Ms. Sedlacek made a motion, seconded by Mr. Hill, to grant the variance request 
as it meets all of the findings.  The motion carried with a vote of four to zero. 



 
ZBOA Minutes 
February 22, 2010 
Page 6 

 
V. Old Business 
  
 No old business. 
 
VI. New Business 
 
 No new business. 
 
VII. Adjournment 
 
 The Meeting adjourned at 6:45 P.M. 
 
 
 Submitted by Julie A. Bachety, Recorder 
 
 


